IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.		

THOMAS JAMES MOORE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. SMITH Capital Collateral Counsel Florida Bar No. 279080

JOHN M. JACKSON Florida Bar No. 0993476 Assistant CCC-NR

CAPITAL COLLATERAL COUNSEL - NORTHERN REGION
Post Office Drawer 5498
Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498
(850) 488-7200

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, Duval County, Florida, entered the judgments and sentences. On February 18, 1993, a Grand Jury indicted Mr. Moore for first degree murder, attempted armed robbery, conspiracy to commit robbery, armed burglary, arson, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (Vol.I, p.3). Mr. Moore, "standing mute" to the allegations in the indictment, the trial court entered a plea of not guilty for him as to each of the six counts (R. 9).

On October 25, 1993, Mr. Moore's trial commenced before the Honorable John D. Southwood. On October 29, 1993, the jury found Mr. Moore guilty on all counts (R. 1381-82), except for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon which was severed prior to trial (Vol.II, p.327). On November 3, 1993, the jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of nine (9) to three (3) (R. 1553).

The trial court followed the recommendation of the jury and imposed the sentence of death upon Mr. Moore on December 2, 1993 (R. 1580-87). The trial court entered its sentencing order on the same day (Vol.III, p.501). On direct appeal, Mr. Moore's convictions and sentences were affirmed. Moore v. State, 701 So.2d 545 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1083 (1998).

Postconviction counsel was designated for Mr. Moore on July 22, 1998. On March 26, 1999, Mr. Moore filed a "shell" motion pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim. P., in order to toll the time in which Mr. Moore's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus must

be filed in federal court (Supp. 202). Mr. Moore subsequently filed an incomplete amended motion on June 22, 1999 (Supp. 300). This amendment was filed in order to protect Mr. Moore's right to obtain and utilize public records².

On September 20, 1999, despite a continued lack of public records compliance by state agencies and insufficient time to investigate his case, Mr. Moore filed an incomplete amendment in order to comply with the Judge Southwood's order (PCR. 1).

Lastly, on April 6, 2000, Mr. Moore filed a third amendment to his postconviction motion. (PCR. 308). On April 20, 2000, the postconviction court struck Mr. Moore's entire April 6, 2000 amendment and held a hearing, pursuant to Huff v. State, 622
So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993), on Mr. Moore's incomplete amendment from September 20, 1999. The postconviction court summarily denied all claims in this incomplete amendment (PCR. 529-45). The postconviction court denied Mr. Moore's motion for rehearing on September 8, 2000 (Supp. 541). Mr. Moore timely filed his Notice of Appeal on October 6, 2000.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Moore was provided postconviction counsel on July 22, 1998. On August 19, 1998, in accordance with the requirements of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.852 (1996) (hereinafter "old 3.852"), Mr. Moore requested public records from the Department

²Up to this point, several agencies had refused to comply with Mr. Moore's public records requests, including the agency that investigated the murder Mr. Moore was convicted of (Jacksonville Sheriff's Office) and the agency the prosecuted him (Duval State Attorney's Office).

of Corrections, the Duval State Attorney's Office, the Attorney General's Office, the Duval County Sheriff, and the Medical Examiner's Office of Jacksonville (Supp. 1-20). Each agency responded with the exception of the Sheriff and the Medical Examiner.

On October 1, 1998, a newly amended Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.852 (1998) (hereinafter "new 3.852") took effect. On December 28, 1998, based on the requirements of section (h)(2) of the new 3.852, Mr. Moore requested additional public records from several agencies (Supp. 87-163). The following agencies filed objections to the demands for additional records: the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (Supp. 164, 186); the Department of Corrections (Supp. 188); the Jacksonville Division of Human Resources (Supp. 193); the Duval County Sheriff (Supp. 195); and, the Duval State Attorney (Supp. 199).

On March 26, 1999, Mr. Moore filed a "shell" 3.850 motion (Supp. 202). On March 29, 1999, Senior Judge John D. Southwood was assigned to handle Mr. Moore's postconviction matters. On April 21, 1999, Judge Southwood entered an order scheduling a hearing on Mr. Moore's public records requests for April 29, 1999 (Supp. 265-67). Said order only called up for hearing Mr. Moore's December 28, 1998 requests filed pursuant to the new 3.852, ignoring the initial public records requests Mr. Moore filed pursuant to the old 3.852. Furthermore, said order stated that the hearing would be held pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P.

3.852(g)(3), a section of the rule that clearly did not apply to Mr. Moore's case.

On April 29, 1999, the hearing took place (PCR. 560-738). On May 12 and 153, 1999, Judge Southwood entered orders on Mr. Moore's public records demands and the corresponding objections. Regarding Mr. Moore's initial request to the State Attorney, Judge Southwood denied the request for all records the agency had in their possession regarding Mr. Moore, and further ordered that the State Attorney need not provide him with any materials that were previously provided to trial counsel during discovery (Supp. Regarding Mr. Moore's request for additional records filed pursuant to 3.852(h)(2), Judge Southwood struck said requests and instructed Mr. Moore to refile them after reviewing the records the State Attorney was willing to make available from the original demand. (Supp. 273). Judge Southwood further ordered that when refiling these requests, Mr. Moore "shall follow the requirements of the new rule Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.852 (h) and (I)" (Supp. 273) (emphasis added).

Regarding Mr. Moore's 3.852(h)(2) request for additional records to the Department of Corrections, Judge Southwood struck this request because "[T]he defendant has not complied with the requirements of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.852 (I)." (Supp. 276-77) (emphasis added). Judge Southwood also struck Mr. Moore's

³The orders filed May 15th, regarding the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, the Jacksonville Division of Human Resources and the Duval Sheriff's Office, were not provided to Mr. Moore's counsel.

3.852(h)(2) request for additional records to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement because it did not comply with 3.852(I) (Supp. 280-81).

Due to the confusing nature of these orders, Mr. Moore filed a Motion for Reconsideration and/or Clarification on May 24, 1999 (Supp. 284). Among other things, Mr. Moore pointed out that his requests for additional records were made pursuant to 3.852(h)(2), not 3.852(q)(3), and that the requirements of 3.852(h)(2) should apply to him. Mr. Moore also pointed out that applying 3.852(I) to any of these demands was erroneous when none of the demands had been made pursuant to 3.852(I), and 3.852(I) was not applicable to Mr. Moore at this stage of his public records production. On July 12, 1999, Mr. Moore supplemented his Motion for Reconsideration and/or Clarification with the July 1, 1999 Amendment to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.852 (Supp. 407). Judge Southwood denied Mr. Moore's Motion for Reconsideration and/or Clarification on July 9, 1999⁴, stating simply that he "did not overlook any points of law or fact" in rendering his previous orders (Supp. 407).

On June 22, 1999, Mr. Moore filed an incomplete amended 3.850 motion in order to meet the 1-year deadline requirement of Rule 3.851 (Supp. 300). In said motion, Mr. Moore explained that he still had not been provided public records he was entitled to,

⁴Mr. Moore's Supplement to Motion for Reconsideration and/or Clarification was filed almost simultaneously with Judge Southwood's Order Denying Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration and/or Clarification. The two documents crossed in the mail.

including the records initially requested from the Duval State Attorney⁵ and the Duval County Sheriff⁶. Mr. Moore also informed Judge Southwood that the Office of the Capital Collateral Counsel for the Northern Region had run out of funds in January of 1999, preventing undersigned from investigating Mr. Moore's case for several months. Mr. Moore also requested leave to amend once the public records process in his case was complete.

In response to Mr. Moore's 3.850 amendment, on July 14, 1999, Judge Southwood entered an order granting Mr. Moore 30 days to file a final amended 3.850 motion (Supp. 453). In said order, Judge Southwood did not address the lack of public records compliance by the Duval State Attorney and Duval Sheriff, nor did Judge Southwood address the funding problems that had prevented the proper investigation of Mr. Moore's 3.850 motion. On July 21, 1999, Mr. Moore filed a Motion for Reconsideration and Request for Hearing in response to Judge Southwood's July 14th Order (Supp. 456). In this Motion, Mr. Moore again informed Judge Southwood that he had not received any records from the Duval State Attorney, that he had not received any records regarding Mr. Moore's case from the Duval Sheriff, and that other

⁵The Duval State Attorney had informed undersigned counsel that they were suspending public records compliance pending the outcome of the Motion for Rehearing and/or Clarification filed on June 21, 1999.

⁶Most importantly, the unprovided records included the actual investigation and prosecution files from this case.

⁷Mr. Moore supplemented the Motion for Reconsideration and Request for Hearing on August 10, 1999 (Supp. 468).

public records issues remain unaddressed. Mr. Moore also requested that Judge Southwood hold a hearing on these matters.

On August 19, 1999, without holding a hearing, Judge Southwood entered an Order on Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration and Request for Hearing, and the Defendant's Supplement to that Motion (Supp. 475). In said order, Judge Southwood grants Mr. Moore (approximately) 32 more days to file his final amended 3.850 motion. At no point does Judge Southwood address the public records problems Mr. Moore specified in his motions. At no point does Judge Southwood address Mr. Moore's request for a hearing into these matters. Most importantly, Judge Southwood twice states in said order that he will not entertain any further motions for rehearing or time extension "no matter how entitled" Mr. Moore is to have the motions heard. Based on these two statements, as well as Judge Southwood's refusal to address other matters brought to its attention, Mr. Moore moved to disqualify Judge Southwood (Supp. 479-96). Judge Southwood denied Mr. Moore's Motion to Disqualify on September 8, 1999, finding that the motion was "facially insufficient as a matter of law." (Supp. 498).

On September 20, 1999, in compliance with Judge Southwood's August 19th order, Mr. Moore filed a second (wholly incomplete) amended 3.850 motion (PCR. 1-135). In said motion, Mr. Moore again informed Judge Southwood of the lack of public records compliance and how it had prevented his counsel from effectively representing him in postconviction. Mr. Moore also repeated his

request that Judge Southwood hold a hearing on the several outstanding public records issues. Instead of holding the hearing, on October 15, 1999, Judge Southwood ordered the State to respond to Mr. Moore's second amended 3.850 motion (PCR. 149). The State responded to the motion on December 16, 1999 (PCR 160).

During this time, Mr. Moore continued seeking public records from various agencies. After receiving partial compliance from the Duval State Attorney, pursuant to 3.852(h)(2) and Judge Southwood's May 12, 1999 orders, Mr. Moore sent requests for additional public records to the Duval State Attorney, the Duval Sheriff, and the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (Supp. 501-515; PCR. 134-145). The agencies responded and/or objected to most of the requests (Supp. 524; PCR 146, 153, 158), and none of the agencies provided any records. Mr. Moore also filed motions to compel the Duval Sheriff to turn over public records they had agreed to turn over several months before, including but not limited to the actual files from Mr. Moore's case (Supp. 516-523).

Based on the outstanding public records issues detailed above, on December 20, 1999, Mr. Moore filed a Motion for Hearing on Public Records Demands (PCR. 229). On February 9, 2000, Judge Southwood entered an Order Setting <u>Huff</u> Hearing and Hearing on Defendant's Demands for Additional Public Records⁸ (PCR. 234). The hearing was held on March 8, 2000 (PCR. 739-806). Judge

 $[\]ensuremath{^{8}\text{The}}$ order was silent on Mr. Moore's outstanding motions to compel.

Southwood granted Mr. Moore's motions to compel, ordering the Duval Sheriff⁹ to provide the actual files from Mr. Moore's case within nine (9) days, or by March 17, 2000¹⁰. Judge Southwood also granted Mr. Moore's request for additional records from the Duval Sheriff and Duval State Attorney, also ordering them to provide the records by March 17th. Judge Southwood denied Mr. Moore's request for additional records from the Florida Department of Law Enforcement.

Also at the March 8th hearing, over defense counsel's objection, Judge Southwood granted Mr. Moore only 20 days "to serve proposed amendments" to his 3.850 motion from the date the agencies were to turn over the missing records¹¹. Judge Southwood also rescheduled Mr. Moore's <u>Huff</u> hearing for April 20, 2000. On March 16, 2000, Mr. Moore filed an Emergency Motion asking Judge Southwood for more time to investigate the contents of the missing records, and asking for more time to file additional records requests¹² based on the contents of the Duval

⁹At said hearing, the Duval Sheriff acknowledged the fact that they had not provided the investigative records regarding the murder for which Mr. Moore was convicted (PCR. 759, 762).

¹⁰The Duval Sheriff was seven (7) days late turning the file over, and the file was incomplete.

¹¹Counsel for Mr. Moore explained to Judge Southwood that this was an insufficient amount of time to complete Mr. Moore's postconviction investigation, especially considering that Mr. Moore had never been provided with the Duval Sheriff file regarding the murder for which Mr. Moore was convicted.

¹²Mr. Moore filed several requests for additional records after the March 8th hearing (PCR. 236, 244, 299, 453, 474, 479). Mr. Moore also filed Motions to Compel regarding records not provided by the Duval State Attorney and the Duval Sheriff, as

Sheriff's investigative file and other newly provided records, something Mr. Moore would have been entitled to do had the records been provided when requested (PCR. 250). Mr. Moore updated the Emergency Motion on three occasions (PCR. 258, 275, 284). On March 27, 2000, Judge Southwood denied the Emergency Motion (PCR. 288).

On April 6, 2000, Mr. Moore filed his third amended 3.850 motion (PCR. 308-452). In said motion, Mr. Moore again informed Judge Southwood regarding lack of public records compliance, again asked Judge Southwood to hold a separate hearing on public records, again informed Judge Southwood that the investigation was incomplete, and again asked for leave to amend the motion. On April 20, 2000, Judge Southwood held a Huff hearing and a hearing on the outstanding public records requests (PCR. 807-979). At said hearing, Judge Southwood refused Mr. Moore a hearing on his pending motions to compel, choosing instead to just deny them. Judge Southwood also denied some of Mr. Moore's requests for additional records, and refused to hear argument on the remaining requests. Judge Southwood also struck Mr. Moore's third amended 3.850 motion, calling it untimely and unauthorized (PCR. 530). Lastly, Judge Southwood then held a Huff hearing on Mr. Moore's second amended 3.850 motion and denied all of the claims without an evidentiary hearing. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

well as the incomplete investigative file provided by the Duval Sheriff (PCR. 267, 271).

- 1. Mr. Moore was prevented from effectively investigating and pleading his Motion to Vacate Judgement of Conviction and Sentence because of the actions of state agencies, as well as the lower court. Several state agencies failed to comply with Mr. Moore's public records requests. Furthermore, the lower court, in refusing to order the agencies to comply and refusing to grant public records hearings, rendered Mr. Moore's counsel ineffective, prevented Mr. Moore from filing a fully plead motion, and otherwise denied Mr. Moore due process.
- 2. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Moore's Second Amended Motion to Vacate Judgement of Conviction and Sentence. Nothing in the record conclusively showed that Mr. Moore was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, his newly discovered evidence claim, or his claim made pursuant to Ake v. Oklahoma.

 Furthermore, any legal insufficiency regarding the claims in Mr. Moore's Second Amended Motion was absent in the Third Amended Motion struck by the lower court. The lower court violated the law by substituting its own opinions, and making broad assumptions, in place of testimony from Mr. Moore's trial counsel or other witnesses.
- 3. The lower court erred by refusing to accept and consider Mr. Moore's Third Amended Motion to Vacate Judgement of Conviction and Sentence. The lower court failed to follow established law. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 (b)(3) is clear that amendments to timely filed 3.850 motions are

allowed and must be accepted. Florida Supreme Court precedent, as well as other caselaw, also allows amendments to properly filed 3.850 motions. The lower court's actions denied Mr. Moore due process, equal protection, and his right to full and fair proceedings.

- 4. The lower court judge erred by not disqualifying himself from Mr. Moore's postconviction proceedings. The lower court twice stated that he would not entertain motions filed by Mr. Moore "no matter how entitled" he was to the relief requested in the motions. These statements, along with other actions of the lower court, created a justifiable fear in Mr. Moore that he would not receive due process from this Judge.
- 5. Mr. Moore has been denied proper appeals from his conviction and sentence of death in violation of his constitutional and statutory rights due to omissions in the record.
- 6. Mr. Moore was involuntarily absent from critical stages of the proceedings which resulted in his conviction and sentence of death, in violation of his Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights, as well as the requirements of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180(a)(3).
- 7. Mr. Moore's constitutional right to competent expert assistance (under Ake v. Oklahoma) was violated in both phases of his trial. Trial counsel was ineffective for not ensuring that Mr. Moore got the expert assistance he was entitled to. The

lower court erred in refusing to consider this claim, as well as refusing to grant Mr. Moore an evidentiary hearing.

- 8. Florida Statute 922.105(1) and (2), providing for "election" of execution by the electric chair, or waiver by inaction and subsequent execution by lethal injection, is an unconstitutional overrule of established caselaw. The statute meets none of the procedural requirements for a valid waiver of a fundamental right.
- 9. Mr. Moore was denied a fair trial and reliable sentencing due to the prosecutor's inflammatory and improper arguments. The prosecutor's arguments were so egregious and so violative of notions of due process and fundamental fairness as to rise to the level of fundamental error. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to raise proper objections.
- 10. Execution by electricution is cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution as well as the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.
- 11. Mr. Moore's jury did not receive complete and accurate instructions defining the aggravating circumstances in a constitutionally narrow fashion. The jury was not advised on the elements of the aggravating factors which the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt. Because of this, the jury recommendation is tainted, as is the lower court's death sentence which relied on the recommendation. Trial counsel was ineffective for not properly objecting.

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY NOT GRANTING MR. MOORE A PROPER HEARING ON THE LACK OF PUBLIC RECORDS COMPLIANCE BY STATE AGENCIES OR OTHERWISE ENSURING THAT MR. MOORE WAS PROVIDED WITH THE PUBLIC RECORDS TO WHICH HE WAS ENTITLED IN ORDER TO INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT HIS POSTCONVICTION CLAIMS, DENYING MR. MOORE DUE PROCESS AND RENDERING POSTCONVICTION COUNSEL INEFFECTIVE.

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