IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS JAMES MOORE,

Appellant,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

CASE NO. SC00-2483

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 159089

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Moreover, as has already been discussed <u>supra</u>, emphasis upon substance abuse would have undermined the evidence to which Moore himself swore; such an emphasis would have contradicted a

 $^{^{9}\,}$ It appears to be identical to CLAIM VIII in Moore's Third Amended 3.850 (PCR III 355-61).

plethora of other evidence that any abuse problem failed to materially affect Moore's rationally concocted and detailed story of his steps the day of the murder, his actual behavior during the murder, or his "normal" and "smart" upbringing. Thus, the State adopts its sub-issue IIA, IIB, and IIC discussions of these matters as its response here.

ISSUE III

DID THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERR BY NOT CONSIDERING MOORE'S THIRD AMENDED 3.850¹⁰ (Restated)

Moore argues:

Due to the fact that Mr. Moore had filed a timely 3.850 motion on June 22, 1999, and due to the fact that the lower court had not adjudicated any of Mr. Moore's postconviction claims. the lower court should have accepted his April 20th [third] amendment in accordance with Fla. R. Cr. P. 3.851(b)(3).

(IB 42) Moore then argues that the trial court's refusal to consider the Third Amended 3.850 "deprived him of the benefit of this Court's precedent allowing amendments after public records have been provided" (IB 43).

Moore argues (IB 45-46) that the trial court's rulings violate his due process and equal protection rights. However, these arguments were not posed to the trial court when it determined whether to consider the Third Amended 3.850, (See PCR V 888-909,

The Third Amended 3.850 is found at PCR III 308-452. The 2D AMENDED 3.850, on which the trial court conducted the *Huff* hearing, is at PCR I 1-133.

VI 910-12) and thereby, they were not preserved. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 636 So.2d 1309, 1311 (Fla. 1994) ("Espinosa *** claims are cognizable in postconviction proceedings if they have been preserved, but Swafford did not preserve the claims he now makes, and they are procedurally barred"); <u>Hill v. State</u>, 549 So.2d 179, 182 (Fla. 1989) ("constitutional argument grounded on due process and Chambers was not presented to the trial court. Failure to present the ground below procedurally bars appellant from presenting the argument on appeal."); <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

Instead of due process or equal protection, Moore's counsel essentially argued that the Third Amended 3.850 was "properly filed based on the records" that had been received (PCR V 890), based upon a clarification in communication between collateral counsel and Moore (PCR V 893-94), the result of paring down and combining pre-existing arguments (PCR V 894), a consequence of the trial court scheduling a Huff hearing (PCR V 904), and due to collateral counsel's understanding that the trial court had authorized amendments (PCR V 905). At one point Moore's counsel simply asserted that the 2D AMENDED 3.850 no longer exists because it was amended (PCR VI 910), thereby suggesting that a defendant's collateral counsel has the unbridled discretion to file any amendment at any time.

Analyzing the "merits" of Issue III, the State contends that the trial court, given the multiple extensions and opportunities it had already gratuitously provided Moore, <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, Issue I

supra, the trial court's ruling was reasonable and that Moore has failed show any claim alleged in the Third Amended 3.850 but not alleged in the 2D AMENDED 3.850 has any merit, rendering the trial court's ruling non-prejudicial and this claim unripe. The State first discusses the absence of prejudice to Moore and the absence of ripeness.

Throughout this brief, under each issue the State has endeavored to respond to each of Moore's arguments that Moore tenders as based upon the Third Amended 3.850. The State respectfully submits that it has demonstrated that, as a matter of law, each one would not have entitled Moore to post-conviction relief. Therefore, the failure to have a Huff hearing on the matters that Moore identifies in his Initial Brief as added in the Third Amended 3.830 is not reversible error. See Davis v.State, 736 So.2d 1156, 1159 n. 1 (Fla. 1999) ("In view of the fact that the instant motion is successive and legally insufficient on its face, we find this error harmless"), citing Groover v. State, 703 So.2d 1035, 1038 (Fla. 1997) ("[E]ven if a Huff hearing had been required in the instant case, the court's

Gompare Glock v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S9 (Fla. January 5, 2001) (pending death warrant; "Glock has not made a showing as to how any of the records he has requested and has not received relate to a colorable claim for postconviction relief or to a 'focused investigation into some legitimate area of inquiry'"; "trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motions to compel and in determining that Glock's right to public records was not denied under section 119.19, Florida Statutes, and rule 3.852"), with Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So.2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980) (abuse of discretion defined at "no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court").

failure to do so would be harmless as no evidentiary hearing was required and relief was not warranted on the motion.").

In contrast to the lack of prejudice demonstrated by the content of the Third Amended 3.850, two salient facts are noteworthy:

- 1. Before the <u>Huff</u> hearing, the trial court expressly invited Moore to tender any claims that arise due to recently provided public-records information, and Moore's counsel could not show the trial court any substantive post-conviction allegation that has thus far come to light due to any public records that had been belatedly provided (<u>See</u> PCR V 888-909, VI 910-12; accordingly, the trial court found that "there are no proposed amendments that met the criteria that I set forth on March 8th" (PCR V 908); and,
- 2. Moore has not otherwise tendered to the trial court any properly sworn additional claims that arose due to newly provided public records.

Therefore, if and when Moore tenders to the trial court otherwise meritorious claims that he adds due to information he receives from any belatedly supplied public records, the issue he now presents would be ripe for trial court, and ultimately this Court's, consideration. At that juncture, the source of the information could be scrutinized and the "blame" for any delay analyzed:

• Is the new claim, in fact, based upon information newly acquired by collateral counsel from a state agency?

- Was that information previously available in other records or through collateral counsel's due diligence?
- Was Moore, as a matter of law, entitled to the public record and did he request it in a reasonable and diligent manner?
- Generally, was the agency primarily responsible for the delay or was Moore's counsel?¹²

However, as of now, these types of questions cannot be addressed because this issue has not ripened.

Accordingly, here the trial court at the April 20, 1999, <u>Huff</u> hearing invited post-conviction counsel to file "something" regarding public records if prejudice could be shown. The trial court indicated, "We will talk about it." (PCR V 853)

<u>Ventura v. State</u>, 673 So.2d 479, 480 (Fla. 1996), supports the foregoing position:

Five days before the status hearing set in this cause, Ventura amended his still outstanding motion for rehearing on the original rule 3.850 motion to include factual allegations made possible by the intervening public records disclosure. At the status hearing, the trial judge denied the motion for rehearing on the grounds that no provision existed for amending a motion for rehearing.

Thus, in <u>Ventura</u>, unlike here, the content of new claims was causally tied to "the intervening public records disclosure." continued:

The State cannot fail to furnish relevant information and then argue that the claim need not be heard on its merits

On "blame" at this juncture, $\underline{\text{see}}$ Moore's delay, outlined in Issue I $\underline{\text{supra}}$.

because of an asserted procedural default that was caused by the State's failure to act.

673 So.2d at 481. Here, there has been no showing that the State "caused" and material deficiency in Moore's postconviction motions. Thus, the remedy in <u>Muehleman v. Dugger</u>, 623 So.2d 480, 481 (Fla. 1993), was to allow the defendant "to amend his 3.850 petition to include any facts or claims contained in the sheriff's records."

At this juncture, in addition to this issue being not ripe, the State respectfully submits that the trial court's rulings have been reasonable, <u>See also</u> Issue I <u>supra</u>, including its decision not to consider the Third Amended 3.850, in light of the totality of facts in this case, thereby meriting affirmance.

As a basic premise for the trial court's reasonableness, it should not be overlooked that Fla. R. Cr. P. 3.851 limits the time in which a motion for postconviction relief should be filed, and this Court has expressed its concern over delays in the postconviction process. The trial court has attempted to move this case along consistent with these concerns. Given these overarching concerns, Moore bears the burden of demonstrating a valid reason for filing beyond that deadline. Cf. Parker v.

Dugger, 537 So.2d 969, 973 (Fla. 1988) ("Petitioner has presented no valid reason for this untimely filing"). By and large, his post-conviction claims are based on the law and the trial record that has existed for years.

Further, on March 8, 2000, in spite of Moore's delay, <u>See</u>

Issue I <u>supra</u>, the trial court expressly invited Moore to amend

his 3.850 motion based upon any new information he receives from the records he was pursuing:

If they come up with something as a result of obtaining the investigative file that they feel is something that can be added to the second amended or third amended, whatever we are on, 3.850, they are to, within 20 days from the March 17th, furnish proposed amendments to the state attorney's office and/or the attorney general.

(PCR V 769) The trial court's ruling reasonably afforded Moore the opportunity to present any new claims.

ISSUE IV

DID THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERR BY DENYING MOORE'S MOTION TO DISQUALIFY THE TRIAL JUDGE? (Restated)

It appears that this issue is based upon the trial court's

Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Disqualify Judge (Supp PCR
498). This claim and the underlying August 27, 1999, motion (Supp
PCR 479-96) are predicated upon a statement the trial court made
in its August 19, 1999, Order on Defendant's Motion for
Reconsideration and Request for Hearing, and the Defendant's
Supplement to that Motion (Supp PCR 475-77). The August 19 order
laid out some of the details leading to the statement targeted
here (Supp PCR 476) that the trial court intended to grant no
more extensions of time for Moore to file his final motion for
post-conviction relief and that the order was not subject to a
motion for rehearing.

It is noteworthy that this same circuit judge at the April 20, 1999, public records/Huff hearing invited post-conviction counsel to file "something" regarding public records if prejudice could be shown. (PCR 853)

Especially in the context of this case, involving multiple extensions of time, the trial court's statements were no more than an a caveat or, at worst, an adverse ruling, which is not a ground for disqualification. See Barwick v. State, 660 So.2d 685, 692 (Fla. 1995) (collecting authorities); Rivera v. State, 717 So.2d 477, 481 (Fla. 1998). For example, Correll v. State, 698 So.2d 522, 524-25 (Fla. 1997), upheld the denial of a motion to disqualify, which had alleged, inter alia, that

Judge Stroker demonstrated bias against Correll's counsel when he suggested that the Office of Capital Collateral Representative (CCR) uses chapter 119 as a delaying tactic in death penalty cases *** and that the trial court ruled against him in denying his request for an evidentiary hearing on his public records claim.

Indeed, it is common practice among Florida appellate courts to put counsel on notice that no more extensions will be granted. In the instant case, this Court's March 14, 2001, order stated that "NO FURTHER EXTENSIONS OF TIME WILL BE GRANTED TO APPELLANT FOR FILING THE INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS." See also, e.g., The Florida Bar v. Nesmith, 707 So.2d 331, 332 (Fla. 1998) ("On December 29, 1995, respondent filed a second request for an extension of time"; "district court granted an extension until January 30, 1996, with the caveat that no more extensions would be granted").

ISSUE V

IS MOORE ENTITLED TO RELIEF IN THIS APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF HIS MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF BECAUSE HE WAS ALLEGEDLY PREJUDICIALLY DENIED AN APPELLATE RECORD IN HIS DIRECT APPEAL? (Restated)

and

ISSUE VI

IS MOORE ENTITLED TO RELIEF IN THIS APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF HIS MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF BECAUSE HE WAS NOT PRESENT AT A JUNE 22 DISCUSSION AMONG COUNSEL AND THE TRIAL JUDGE? (Restated)

These two issues (IB 51-53, 53-54) concern the same event, that is, Moore's absence from discussion among counsel and the trial judge on June 22, 1993. Neither of these claims is properly heard here.

This is an appeal from the trial court's order that denied Moore's 2D AMENDED 3.850, 14 which did not present either of these issues to the trial court for a ruling. (See I 1-133) Therefore, if either of these claims would have been otherwise cognizable in a motion for post-conviction relief, they would be procedurally barred due to a failure to present them to the trial court. See, e.g., Swafford v. State, 636 So.2d 1309, 1311 (Fla. 1994) ("Espinosa *** claims are cognizable in postconviction proceedings if they have been preserved, but Swafford did not preserve the claims he now makes, and they are procedurally barred"); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

While CLAIM XII of the 2D AMENDED 3.850 (PCR I 42-44) presented a claim that Moore was absent from the swearing of the jury, it did not discuss alleged absence from a pre-trial discussion.

Further, because these issues were not presented to the trial court, the trial court's order does not rule upon them.

Therefore, there is no trial court order or ruling to appeal concerning these issues, providing yet another reason for rejecting these issues. As Frazier v. State, 107 So.2d 16, 19 (Fla. 1958), put it:

[N]o ruling having been secured by the defendant by the trial court as to the composition of either the grand jury or the petit jury, there is no action, request, or ruling had or made in the proceedings below properly before us for review.

See also Armstrong v. State, 642 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1994) ("trial judge reserved ruling on this issue and apparently never issued a ruling ..., this issue is procedurally barred"); Richardson v. State, 437 So.2d 1091, 1094 (Fla. 1983) ("appellant did not pursue his" objection "even though the judge did not rule on" it. "Under these circumstances, appellant has not preserved the issue for appeal").

Moreover, absence at an alleged critical stage is not cognizable on collateral review, <u>See Blanco v. Wainwright</u>, 507 So.2d 1377, 1380 (Fla. 1987) (claim that "not present at bench conferences held outside the hearing of the jury").

Further, these issues are procedurally barred. They are improper attempts at a second appeal, <u>See Medina v. State</u>, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) (Proceedings under rule 3.850 are not to be used as a second appeal; <u>Kight v. Dugger</u>, 574 So.2d 1066, 1073 (Fla. 1990) ("A procedural bar cannot be avoided by simply couching otherwise-barred claims in terms of ineffective

assistance of counsel"), and they try to raise matters for which no objection put the trial court on notice, <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Cole v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 701 So.2d 845, 850 (Fla. 1997) ("claim is also procedurally barred because Cole did not make a contemporaneous objection to any bench conferences being held in the hallway or to his desire to participate in any of the conferences"); <u>U.S. v.</u>

Gagnon, 470 U.S. 522, 105 S.Ct. 1482 (1985).

Arguendo, in an abundance of caution, however, the State presents a brief argument on the merits, which substantially overlaps, albeit in a much more abbreviated form, the arguments presented in its habeas response filed the same day as this brief.

Here, in contrast to allegations rooted in the Confrontation Clause or fairness-based due process, <u>See generally Muhammad v.</u>

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